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Date: January 4, 2022 @
To: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members

From: Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney

Nicole F. MacMillan, Assistant City Attorney

Subject: 3385 Rochester Road LLC v. Oakland County and the City of Troy

Plaintiff filed this federal lawsuit in the Eastern District of Michigan, and it was
assigned to the Honorable Judith Levy. The Complaint stems from the foreclosure of the
property (3385 Rochester Road) in 2018 for unpaid taxes. Plaintiff first unsuccessfully
challenged the foreclosure in the Oakland County Circuit Court. After Plaintiff's case
was dismissed, with the Court finding that Oakland County properly held title to the
property, the City purchased it from Oakland County and demolished the building, which
had been unoccupied for nearly 20 years and was blighted. After the building was
demolished, the City went through a competitive auction process, but there was only
one bidder. Aside from recouping the City’s out of pocket costs to acquire and demolish
the property and the administrative costs of the sale, the City remitted all remaining
proceeds to Oakland County, pursuant to state law.

Plaintiff then filed this lawsuit against Oakland County and the City. Plaintiff's
Complaint essentially alleges four separate violations against both defendants under
various theories. First, Plaintiff alleges an illegal taking under the 5" and 14"
Amendment, as well as under the Michigan Constitution and state law. Second, Plaintiff
alleges excessive fines under the 8" and 14" Amendment, as well as under the
Michigan Constitution. Third, Plaintiff alleges a procedural due process violation under
the 14" Amendment. Lastly, Plaintiff asserts an unjust enrichment claim. A copy of the
complaint is attached.

A proposed resolution authorizing our office to defend this action is attached for
your consideration. Please let us know if you have any questions or concerns.



Proposed Resolution:  



[bookmark: _GoBack]RESOLVED, that the Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES and DIRECTS the City Attorney’s Office to represent the City of Troy in the matter of 3385 Rochester Road LLC v. Oakland County and the City of Troy, Eastern District of Michigan Federal Case Number 21-cv-12785, and AUTHORIZES the payment of necessary costs and expenses that are required to adequately represent the Troy Defendant.  

Bluhmlg
File Attachment
Proposed Resolution to defend.docx


AQ 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of Michigan

3385 Rochester Road LLC,
Plaintiff,

V. Case No. 5:21-—¢cv-12785-TEL—APP
Hon. Judith E. Levy
County of Qakland, et al.,

Defendant.

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION
To: City of Troy

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) - or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R.
Civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) - you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney,
whose name and address are:

Moheeb H. Murray

100 W. Big Beaver Road
Suite 400

Troy, MI

48084-3107

If you fail to respond, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the
complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

KINIKIA D. ESSIX, CLERK OF COURT By: s/ K Brown
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Date of Issuance: November 30, 2021
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PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the Court unless requived by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(1})

Case No. 5:21—cv—12785-JEL—-APP

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

[ ] Ipersonally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

[ 1 Tleftthe summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with (name)

a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

[ 1 [Iserved the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (rame of organization)

on (date) ,or

[ 1 Ireturned the summons unexecuted because s or

[ ] Other: (specify):

My fees are $ for travel and § for services, for a total of §

I declare under the penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server's Signature

Printed Name and Title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc.:
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

SOUTHERN DIVISION
3385 ROCHESTER ROAD LIL.C,
Plaintiff,
Case No. 21-CV-
V.
Hon.
COUNTY OF OAKLAND by

its BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, | JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
ANDREW E. MEISNER, in his
individual and official capacity, and
CITY OF TROY,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff 3385 Rochester Road LLC, through counsel, states as follows for its
Complaint against the County of Oakland by its Board of Commissioners, Andrew
E. Meisner, in both his individual and official capacities, and the City of Troy
(“Defendants™):

1. This is a case of deliberate government overreach without regard to
Plaintiff’s fundamental rights to property and due process. Simply put, Defendants
have abused this State’s tax-foreclosure process to unjustly enrich themselves by
foreclosing on Plaintiff’s property and illegally retaining proceeds far in excess of

the amounts owed to them—+to the tune of hundreds of thousands of dollars.
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2. While Michigan law permits counties fo foreclose on properties in
order to satisfy unpaid property-tax obligations, neither it nor the federal or state
Constitutions sanction Defendants’ retention of funds generated from such
foreclosures beyond the obligatidns owed by the property-owner.

3. Defendants are permitted to foreclose on a tax-delinquent property,
sell that property at fair market value, and retain sufficient proceeds from that sale
to satisfy any amounts owed and reasonable fees related to the sale. But they then
must remit the remainder to Plaintiff.

4. Instead of following the law, Defendants foreclosed on Plaintiff’s
property, sold it well below fair market value, and kept all the proceeds from the
sale. That is, they returned nothing to Plaintiff even though the proceeds from the
sale is significantly greater than what Plaintiff owed in taxes. The result is a
windfall for the county government—and a theft from Plaintiff.

5. Defendants’ unlawful retention of these proceeds deprived Plaintiff of
the entire equity value of its property. Their actions violate the Fifth, Eighth, and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Section 2 of Article X
and Section 16 of Article I of the Michigan Constitution of 1963, and this State’s

inverse-condemnation laws.
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PARTIES

6.  Plaintiff 3885 Rochester Road LLC is a Michigan limited liability
company with two members: Rahif Murray and Hussein Murray, each a Michigan
citizen.

7. Plaintiff owned the property at 3385 Rochester Road, Troy, Michigan
(Parcel # 88-20-22-401-067), or the “Property.”

8. Defendant County of Oakland is a political subdivision of the State of
Michigan that is controlled or operated by its Board of Commissioners.

9. Defendant Andrew E. Meisner is the County Treasurer of Qakland
County, a public office that she has held since 2009. Defendant Meisner resides,
on information and belief, in OQakland County. He is sued in both his individual
and official capacities.

10. Defendant City of Troy is a political subdivision of the State of
Michigan and is located in Oakland County, Michigan that is controlled or
operated by its City Council.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action under 28
U.S.C. § 1331 as it presents questions arising under the laws and Constitution of
the United States. Subject-matter jurisdiction is proper over the state-law claims

based on supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
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12.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants as they are
residents of this District. Personal jurisdiction is also proper over Defendants
because they regularly transact claim-related business in this District.

13.  Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because all Defendants reside
in this District and also because a substantial paﬁ of the events or omissions giving
rise to the claims occurred in this District.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
A.  Michigan’s Tax Foreclosure Scheme

14. In general, rcal property is subject to taxation. While various
subdivisions of the State have taxing authority, Defendants are the ones charged
with the foreclosure-and-auction process to recoup unpaid taxes on delinquent
properties in Qakland County.

15.  Specifically, Defendant Oakland County, through its Board of
Commissioners, voluntarily chose Defendant Meisner, in his official capacity, to
serve as the “foreclosing governmental unit” for Oakland County as that term is
defined in Mich. Comp. Laws § 211.78(8)(i).

16.  Where a property-owner has been delinquent in paying his property
taxes, the property on which he is delinquent in his taxes may be forfeited to a
county treasurer, like Defendant Meisner, and foreclosure proceedings can

commence. See generally Mich. Comp. Laws § 211.78m.
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17.  Even though the amount of taxes that a property-owner is delinquent
on for a given property is often far less than the fair market value of the property,
Defendants have a policy and practice of retaining the entirety of proceeds
generated from any post-foreclosure auction.

18.  When a foreclosed-upon property is auctioned to generate revenue to
pay delinquent property taxes, Defendants do not just keep the Taxes Owed.!
Rather, they keep therentire auction amount from the auction sale and return none
of the proceeds to the property-owner, thereby reaping the unjust rewards of
Excess Proceeds® from that property.

19. But not only that, because Defendants (as they did here) often sell
property for below fair-market value, they also destroy the entirety of the Equity®
in that property.

20. The effect of this consistent practice is that Defendants unlawfully
retain monies far in excess of the Taxes Owed. That is, the auction satisfies the

delinquent taxes, and this case is concerned with the actions following the

' As used in this Complaint, “Taxes Owed” is defined as the past due taxes owed
on a parce] of property together with any interest, fees, penalties, and costs.

2 As used in this Complaint, “Excess Proceeds” is defined as the auction sale
price of a parcel of property less Taxes Owed.

> As used in this Complaint, “Equity” is defined as the fair-market value of a
parcel of property less Taxes Owed.
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satisfaction of taxes—namely, the unlawful retention or destruction of proceeds
beyond the Taxes Owed.
B.  The Property and Plaintiff’s Efforts to Redevelop It

21. The Property is a commercial property that included a vacant
building, which at one time, housed a Taco Bell restaurant. The Property is very
valuable due to its location on a busy stretch of Rochester Road between Big
Beaver and Wattles Roads in Troy, Michigan. It is a prime candidate for
redevelopment.

22.  Plaintiff originally purchased the property in 1997. Rahif Murray has
been a member of Plaintiff since its organization, while Hussein Murray came on
as a member of Plaintiff in 2007.

23.  Over the years, Plaintiff made numerous attempts to rehabilitate and
redevelop the Property.

24.  In 2004, Plaintiff made plans to open a restaurant at the Property, even
going so far as to purchase various restaurant equipment which, on information and
belief, remained in the building. That restaurant never came to fruition as the then-
sole member of Plaintiff Rahif Murray was diagnosed with cancer.

25.  Several years later, after Hussein Murray joined as a member, Plaintiff
explored the possibility of demolishing the vacant building and constructing a new

building with approximately 5,200 square feet of space for commercial and retail
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use. Plaintiff hired architects and other professionals to assist with this project, but
plans unraveled when the economy soured and they were unable to obtain
financing.

26. In 2015, Plaintiff again pursued an opportunity to redevelop the
Property through a potential buyer and invested a great deal of time and resources
pursuing the deal. The Property was under contract for many months with a
purchase price of $675,000. But at the last minute, the buyer walked away.

27.  Plaintiff’s members had intended to use proceeds from the sale to help
pay for the costs of caring for their nonagenarian mother. Both Rahif and Hussein
spent a majority of their free time caring for their mother. Hussein even took out a
home equity loan to pay off a high-interest mortgage on the Property.

28.  Plaintiff never intended to let the Property fall into tax foreclosure.

29.  While Plaintiff understood that there were some delinquent taxes on
the Property, Plaintiff did not understand or actually see any notices that the
property could be foreclosed.

30. At the time, neither Rahif nor Hussein regularly visited the Property
and so did not see any foreclosure notices posted on a window or door there.

31.  Plaintiff attempted to quash the foreclosure but was unsuccessful. See

In The Matter Of The Petition By The Oakland County Treasurer For Foreclosure
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Of Certain Lands For Unpaid Property Taxes (3385 Rochester Road, Troy),
No. 2017-159297-CZ (Oakland Cty. Cir. Ct.).

C. Defendants’ Unlawful Retention of Plaintiff’s Excess Proceeds and
Destruction of Plaintif’s Equity in the Property.

32. The Property had delinquent taxes of approximately $15,043.65.
Because of this, Defendant Meisner foreclosed on and seized ownership of the
Property on behalf of Defendant Oakland County on or about February 14, 2018.

33. Defendants did not initiate any condemnation proceedings related to
the Property.

34. On or about July 12, 2018, Defendant City of Troy exercised its then
statutory right to purchase the property under MCL 211.78m(1) for the minimum
bid amount of $22,797.82, being the delinquent taxes, interest and fees.

35. Following a September 2019 “auction” with only one bidder,
Defendant City of Troy sold the Property for $370,000.00 on or about June 1,
2020.

36. That sale price is $347,202 greater than the Taxes Owed on the
Property. Instead of remitting this nearly $350,000 in Excess Proceeds to the
Plaintiff, Defendants unlawfully retained it.

37. And because Defendants sold the Property well-below fair-market

value, Defendants wiped out additional amounts of Plaintiff’s Equity in the

Property.
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38. Defendants did not (and do not) provide any process or legal
mechanism to seek, let alone recover, either the Equity destroyed by or the Excess
Proceeds generated and retained by their actions in foreclosing and selling the
Property.

39. Further, Defendants have refused (and refuse) to pay Plaintiff just
compensation in the amount of Plaintiff’s Equity in the Property (or cven the
Excess Proceeds in the Property). Indeed, Defendants have failed to provide any
mechanism for compensation at all.

D.  Plaintiff is Not Alone; Defendants Have Perpetuated this Process
Repeatedly as a Matter of Practice and Policy.

40. The actions described above related to Plaintiff’s Property are not a
one-off. Rather, upon information and belief, they reflect a policy, custom, and/or
practice voluntarily undertaken by Defendant Oakland County and/or its final
policymaker in conjunction with other cities, such as the City of Troy.

41.  This voluntary practice or policy of Defendant Oakland County and/or
its final policymaker meets the criteria for liability pursuant to Monell v. New York
City Department of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658 (1978).

42.  In particular, Defendant Oakland County chose to designate its county
treasurer, Defendant Meisner, as its foreclosing governmental unit under Michigan
law. And then through legislative action, official governmental policies or

regulation, and/or other actions taken by official(s) with final decision-making

9
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authority, Defendants have established a scheme whereby they foreclose and sell
tax-delinquent properties and retain all proceeds from such sales—never returning
any funds to the original property-owner—regardless of the fair-market value, sale
price, or Taxes Owed on the property. Nor do Defendants provide any mechanism
for property-owners to secure the return of their Equity, or even the Excess
Proceeds.

43. The General Property Tax Act, including Mich. Comp. Laws
§ 211.78m(8), neither requires nor permits the practices outlined above. See
generally Rafaeli, LLC v. Oakland Cty., 505 Mich. 429, 442 (2020). Rather, the
actions undertaken by Defendants were intentionally and wantonly designed to
harm Plaintiff and others in their constitutionally protected property rights.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I: SECTION 1983 TAKING CLAIM UNDER THE
FIFTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION

44.  Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.

45.  The Fifth Amendment is incorporated against the states through the
Fourteenth Amendment and requires payment of just compensation upon a taking,
See Knick v. Twp. of Scott, 139 8. Ct. 2162 (2019).

46.  Defendants have taken Plaintiff’s property, in the form of their Equity,
and have appropriated that property for public use without paying of just

compensation,

10
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47. Defendants have not paid, will not pay, and do not intend to pay
‘Plaintiff just compensation.

48.  Defendants have refused to take any action for the payment of just
compensation for their theft of Equity from the Plaintiff.

49.  Defendants, therefore, have deprived Plaintiff of its constitutional
right to just compensation.

50.  All actions undertaken by Defendants in relation to these takings were
done under color of state law.

51.  All actions undertaken by Defendants in relation to these takings were
further done pursuant to official policy, practice, or custom of Defendants or their
final policymakers.

52. Defendants’ actions were intentional and wanton as to Plaintiff’s
constitutional rights.

53. These actions, as violations of the U.S. Constitution, are redressable
under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1988.

54.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff
has been injured by and suffered damages, including but not limited to the

deprivation of Equity, Excess Proceeds, or other just compensation.

11
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COUNT II: TAKING CLAIM DIRECTLY ARISING UNDER THE
FIFTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION

55.  Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.

56. The Fifth Amendment is a self-executing provision of the United
States Constitution and requires payment of just compensation upon a taking,

57.  Defendants have taken Plaintiff’s property, in the form of their Equity,
and have appropriated that property for public use without paying of just
compensation.

58. Defendants have not paid, will not pay, and do not intend to pay
Plaintiff just compensation.

59.  Defendants have refused to take any action for the payment of just
compensation for their seizure of Equity from the Plaintiff.

60. Defendants, therefore, have deprived Plaintiff of its constitutidnal
right to just compensation.

61. Defendants’ actions were intentional and wanton as to Plaintiff’s
constitutional rights.

62. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff
has been injured by and suffered damages, including but not limited to the

deprivation of Equity, Excess Proceeds, or other just compensation.

12
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COUNT III: TAKING CLAIM UNDER SECTION 2 OF
ARTICLE X OF THE MICHIGAN CONSTITUTION OF 1963

63. Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.

64. Defendants have taken Plaintiff’s property, in the form of their Equity,
and have appropriated that property for public use without paying of just
compensation.

65. Defendants have not paid, will not pay, and do not intend to pay
Plaintiff just compensation,

66. Defendants have refused to take any action for the payment of just
compensation for their seizure of Equity from the Plaintiff.

67. Defendants, therefore, have deprived Plaintiff of its right to just
compensation in violation of Article X, Section 2 of the Michigan Constitution of
1963.

68. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff
has been injured by and suffered damages.

COUNT IV: INVERSE CONDEMNATION/DE FACTO
TAKING CLAIM UNDER STATE LAW

69. Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.
70.  Defendants have taken Plaintiff’s property, in the form of their Equity,
and have appropriated that property for public use without paying of just

compensation.

13
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71. Defendants have done so without using any direct condemnation
process, including those provided for in Mich, Comp. Laws § 213.51 et seq.

72.  Defendants did not and do not provide any process, legal mechanism,
or opportunity to seek recovery of either the Equity destroyed by or the Excess
Proceeds generated by their actions in foreclosing and selling property. Indeed,
Defendants have failed to provide any mechanism for compensation at all.

73.  Defendants have not paid, will not pay, and do not intend to pay
Plaintiff just compensation.

74.  Defendants have refused to take any action for the payment of just
compensation for their seizure of Equity from the Plaintiff,

75.  Aninverse condemnation or de facto taking has therefore occurred.

76. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff
has been injured by and suffered damages, including but not limited to the
deprivation of Equity, Excess Proceeds, or other just compensation.

COUNT V: SECTION 1983 EXCESSIVE-FINES CLAIM

UNDER THE EIGHTH & FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT
TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION

77.  Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.
78.  The Eighth Amendment is incorporated against the states through the
Fourteenth Amendment and forbids the imposition of excessive fines. See Timbs

v. Indiana, 139 8. Ct. 682 (2019).

14
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79. By imposing an excessive fine through the retention of the Equity in
Plaintiff*s property, Defendants have violated Plaintiff’s constitutional rights.

80. Because Equity is, definitionally, amounts beyond the Taxes Owed,
its retention is necessarily punitive.

81. All actions undertaken by Defendants in relation to these fine
impositions were done under color of state law.

82. All actions undertaken by Defendants in relation to these fine
impositions were further done pursuant to official policy, practice, or custom of
Defendants or their final policymakers.

83. Defendants’ actions were intentional and wanton as to Plaintiff’s and
constitutional rights.

84. These actions, as violations of the U.S. Constitution, are redressable
under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1988.

85. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff
has been injured by and suffered damages, including but not limited to the
deprivation of Equity or Excess Proceeds.

COUNT VI: EXCESSIVE-FINES CLAIM UNDER SECTION 16 OF
ARTICLE I OF THE MICHIGAN CONSTITUTION OF 1963

86. Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.
87. Section 16 of Article T of the Michigan Constitution forbids the

imposition of excessive fines.

15
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88. By imposing an excessive fine through the retention of the Equity in
Plaintiff’s property, Defendants have violated Plaintiff’s constitutional rights.

89.  Because Equity is, definitionally, amounts beyond the Taxes Owed,
its retention is necessarily punitive.

90. Defendants’ actions were intentional and wanton as to Plaintiff’s and
constitutional rights.

91.  As a direct and. proximate result of the Defendants® actions, Plaintiff
has been injured by and suffered damages, including but not limited to the
deprivation of Equity or Excess Proceeds.

COUNT VII: SECTION 1983 PROCEDURAL DUE-PROCESS CLAIM

UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO
THE U.S. CONSTITUTION

92.  Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.

93.  The Fourteenth Amendment guarantees, among other things, the right
to procedural duc process for Plaintiff. See, e.g., Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S.
319 (1976).

94.  Plaintiff has a constitutionally protected property interest in the Equity
of its Property.

95.  Defendants did not and do not provide any process, legal mechanism,
or opportunity to seek recovery of either the Equity destroyed by their actions in

foreclosing and selling the Property. Indeed, Defendants have failed to provide

16
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any mechanism for compensation at all before the seizure, before the sale, or
after the sale.

96.  All actions undertaken by Defendants in relation to this utter lack of
process were done under color of state law.

97. All actions undertaken by Defendants in relation to this utter lack of
process were further done pursuant to official policy, practice, or custom of
Defendants or their final policymakers.

98. Defendants’ actions were intentional and wanton as to Plaintiff’s
constitutional rights.

99. These actions, as violations of the U.S. Constitution, are redressable
under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1988.

100. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ failure to provide
adequate procedural due process, Plaintiff has been injured and have suffered

damages.

COUNT VIII: UNJUST ENRICHMENT CLAIM UNDER MICHIGAN LAW

101. Paragraphs 1-43 are incorporated as if stated verbatim herein.
102. Defendants have illegally seized Equity from Plaintiff and unlawfully
retained Excess Proceeds from the sale of the Property. This unlawful seizure and

retention has unjustly enriched Defendants Oakland County and City of Troy.

17
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103. It is inequitable for Defendants Oakland County and City of Troy to

retain the Excess Proceeds from the sale of the Property at auction as those

definitionally exceed the Taxes Owed for the Property.

104. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law, except as asserted in this

Complaint.

105. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff

has been injured and have suffered damages, including but not limited to the

deprivation of Excess Proceeds.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WIHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests this Court grant it:

A.

Any and all damages and/or compensation as is deemed proper,
together with interest and costs, including such interest as provided
for by Knick v. Twp. of Scott,

A declaration that Defendants’ conduct was and is unlawful and/or
unconstitutional, even if purportedly being undertaken consistent with

Michigan’s General Property Tax Act;

Disgorgement from Defendants of any proceeds from the sales or
auctions beyond the Taxes Owed on the Property;

Any other damages available under federal or state law, including but
not limited to an award of nominal and punitive damages;

Attorney fees and expenses pursuant to all applicable laws, rules, or
statutes, including but not limited to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and

All other legal and equitable relief which the Court deems proper.

18
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JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury for all issues that are triable.

Respectfully submitted,
BUSH SEYFERTH PLLC

By: /s/ Moheeb H. Murray
Moheeb H. Murray (P63893)
Derek J. Linkous (P82268)
Mahde Y. Abdallah (P80121)
100 W. Big Beaver Rd., Ste. 400
Troy, MI 48084

Tel/Fax: (248) 822-7800
murray@bsplaw.com
linkous@bsplaw.com

Dated: November 30, 2021 abdallah@bsplaw.com
Afforneys for Plaintiff
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